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2018 marks the 80th anniversary of the construction of the 
home of the University of Louisville Brandeis School of Law. 
Remaining in a single location for such a long period might 

have astonished and pleased many early graduates, as the law school 
moved nine times during its first 80 years.1 The school had remained 
in one location for longer than a decade only once, and each location 
had been shared with other occupants for some amount of time.2 
The move to 312 Armory Place in the summer of 1923 thus could 
be regarded as a significant step forward.3 The law school was to 
be the sole occupant, and the additional room afforded space for 
faculty offices and a school library.4

Faculty and students praised the location publicly,5 but it was almost 
immediately clear why the move was deemed temporary.6 The 
building, already worn and in need of repair,7 was underequipped 
for the expanding School of Law. The largest classroom only sat 
32 students, limiting enrollment or requiring hiring of additional 
faculty to allow the split of the classes into sessions.8 Generosity 
from friends and alumni of the law school caused the new library to 
quickly outgrow both its original designated space and its relocation 
to the top floor.9 When the Association of American Law Schools 
approved the School of Law in December 1933, they explicitly 
noted the inadequacy of the facility.10

Those concerns led Dean Joseph A. McClain to propose construc-
tion of a School of Law building on the recently acquired Belknap 
campus.11 Connecting the law school with the rest of the University 
would enhance morale, scholarship, and leadership, while the school 
would remain a short distance from downtown, he believed.12 The 
Legal Aid Society supported the move and planned for a satellite 
office at the new site.13

During the winter of 1934-1935, the Board of Trustees invited 
architect Jens Fredrick Larson to campus to discuss the “physical 
needs of the University, particularly with respect to buildings.”14 
Neither the immediate reaction of the Board to the law school 
proposal nor whether the School of Law was discussed with 
Larson that January are clear.15 However, in early August 1935, 
Dean McClain returned to Louisville from business in Georgia 
for a meeting with Larson at the behest of University President 
Kent.16 The next month, an almost identical board that met with 
the architect in January voted unanimously to apply for funding 
from the Public Works Administration (PWA).17

Dean McClain anticipated difficulty with receiving a loan from the 
PWA,18 but the Trustees had a history of success with the New Deal 
department, having by that time secured two grants for the medical 
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school.19 Unfortunately, the Dean’s more pessimistic outlook essen-
tially proved to be correct, as the PWA denied the application for 
the law school based on the ruling that the University of Louisville 
was a private institution.20

On November 21, 1935, the School of Law underwent its proba-
tionary AALS inspection. Although the program “made satisfactory 
progress since its admission, and [gave] every evidence of being 
on a sound academic basis,” the lead inspector reiterated that the 
building was still insufficient.21

Around the same time, another attempt at obtaining federal fund-
ing for a new building had been made in cooperation with city 
government. According to the plan, the University would lease the 
land of the law building site to the city, the city would apply for 
the construction grant, and the construction debt would be retired 
over time by the rent. Once the debt was retired, the university 
would assume ownership of the building.22 The agreement, however, 
required approval of the General Assembly.23 The Senate passed the 
plan in the 1936 session,24 but it stalled in the House.25

In fall 1936, new Dean Jack Neal Lott, Jr., reported falling plaster in 
the classroom to the University President.26 The alarm for student 
safety seemed to have some effect, though not as significant as Dean 
Lott would have wanted.27 At the December 9 meeting, the Board 
of Trustees considered the vacated Conservatory of Music building 
as a temporary location until more permanent arrangements could 
be fulfilled.28 However, the building was deemed unsuitable by the 
Law School, with the only advantage of the Conservatory being 
its relative safety.29

Fortunately, the plan of the university and the city received a 
reprieve in a special session.30 The bill was reintroduced by Senator 
J. Joseph Hettinger on December 23,31 and by January 17, 1937, 
both the City and University of Louisville finally had the authority 
to pursue funding for the new law school building.32

However, on January 9, rain started to fall along the banks of the 
Ohio River, and continued for a week. The day the act took effect, 
it began raining again for another seven straight days. By the end 
of the Great Flood of 1937, the river crested at over 57 feet—more 
than double the height necessary to trigger overflow of the Ohio—
and swamped the majority of Louisville.33

In light of the disaster, the law school was not an immediate con-
cern, yet by May, the city appended the building project to other 
requests for funding from the PWA.34 Unfortunately, the depart-
ment expended its funds for the year by the end of September, and 
the grant for the law school was again denied.35

With accreditation trouble looming, the Louisville Courier-Jour-
nal printed a full-page article in October, detailing to readers the  
“[i]ncredible bad luck” the School of Law and the University faced 
seeking federal grants.36

That report may have been just what the law school needed. 
During the November 3 Board of  Trustees meeting, trusts total-
ing $125,000 from Bernard Flexner of the Class of 1898 were 
announced, on the stipulation that the new law school building 
was placed on Belknap campus.37 Two months later, Carrie Rob-
erts Gaulbert Cox,38 widow of Louisville attorney Attilla Cox, 
donated $50,000 to build the law school library in honor of her 
late husband.39

On January 18, 1938, the Works Progress Administration (WPA, 
not to be confused with the PWA) approved funding for the con-
struction of the School of Law Building.40 President Kent broke 
ground in a ceremony February 5.41 On June 7, U.S. Supreme Court 
Justice Stanley Reed, a Kentuckian, laid the cornerstone.42 Con-
struction continued throughout the summer and fall,43 when, in 
December, the School of Law received another gift. The children 
of another departed local lawyer, which included Lafon Allen of 
the Class of 1894, chose to donate $30,000 to complete and furnish 
the law school court room in Charles James Fox Allen Jr.’s name.44

	
The School of Law held classes for the first time in the new building 
on May 1, 1939, to the collective—and honest—gratitude of both 
students and faculty.45 Dean Lott predicted expansion of the law 
school building would take time,46 although he perhaps did not 
anticipate the extent. A library and office wing opened in 1974.47 

The classroom wing, along with additional offices and space for 
the library followed in 1982.48 The building itself was renamed in 
1995 for Wilson Wyatt, Sr. Mr. Wyatt graduated from the Jeffer-
son School of Law in 1927, which merged with the University of 
Louisville in 1950.49 He served as both mayor of Louisville and 
lieutenant governor, and founded one of Kentucky’s most promi-
nent law firms.50 
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